Brief of Appellant

Filed 12-22-2021

Page 1 of 38

FILED 12-22-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### **COURT OF APPEALS**

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1834 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ETTER L. HUGHES,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review from a Judgment of Conviction and from an Order Denying Postconviction Motion, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable J.D. Watts Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

NICOLE M. MASNICA State Bar No. 1079819 Gimbel Reilly Guerin & Brown LLP 330 E. Kilbourn Avenue, Suite 1170 Milwaukee, WI 53202 nmasnica@grgblaw.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the trial court error in accepting an amended criminal complaint adding three additional charges against Ms. Hughes when there was no independent factual basis for those charges either in the criminal complaint or on the record?

The circuit court concluded that the amendment of the charges in this matter was permissible because there was no need for an independent factual basis because "the amended charges flowed directly from the additional investigation that was conducted."

2. Did the trial court error in accepting an amended criminal complaint adding two counts of physical abuse of a child, repeated acts causing bodily harm, as party to a crime, in that a multiplicity issue and violation of section 948.03(5)(c), *Stats.*, were created by the new filing?

The circuit court briefly concluded that the amendment was proper without specific detail because "[c]ounts three and four were based on the defendant's knowledge that Martinez was abusing TW and JW and her failure to act to prevent the abuse, and counts five and six were based on the defendant's repeated abuse of TW and JW, either directly or as a party to a crime." Therefore, the court held there was no multiplicity issue.

The argument regarding the legislative provision charging the case as it was not addressed by the postconviction court.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective as a matter of law for failing to object to the offering and acceptance of the amended information?

The circuit court held that because there was no prejudice caused by the filing of the amended information (as the court had already concluded its filing was proper), trial counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to raise an objection.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT & PUBLICATION

Ms. Hughes welcomes oral argument on this issue if the court would find it helpful to deciding the questions posed by this appeal. This matter involves the application of well-established legal principles, and therefore, publication is not necessary.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

On December 3, 2016, Ms. Hughes was charged in the instant case in the original criminal complaint with four counts, as follows:

Count One: Neglecting a Child, Causing Death, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§948.21(1)(d), 939.05;

Count Two: Neglecting a Child, Causing Great Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§948.21(1)(c), 939.05;

Count Five: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Six: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b).

(1).

In support of the charges, the probable cause section of the criminal complaint in this case asserts that on the morning of November 29, 2016, Ms. Hughes, J.W. and L.F. awoke to find T.W., who was seven years old, struggling to breathe and in and out of consciousness. (1:6-8). At the time, Ms. Hughes, her son, L.F., and her two young cousins, J.W. and T.W., were residing at the home of the co-defendant, Mary Martinez. The complaint details the forensic interviews of child witnesses L.F. and J.W., which stated that Ms. Martinez had physically assaulted T.W. the night prior, November 28, 2016, before they went to bed and while Ms. Hughes was not present. (1:7-8).

In the morning upon waking, it was discovered that T.W. was in a medical crisis and unresponsive. Ms. Hughes begged Ms. Martinez to call 911, but Ms. Martinez refused to do so, telling Ms. Hughes to go dump T.W.'s body in the woods. (1:6-8). Ms. Hughes, who had planned to move out of the residence that day with the children, was all packed to go. When Ms. Martinez prevented her from calling 911, Ms. Hughes loaded the children into the car to take T.W. to St. Luke's Hospital. (1:6-8). T.W. was unresponsive upon arrival and after transport to Children's Hospital, succumbed to his injuries inflicted upon him by Ms. Martinez that same day.

Ms. Hughes was taken into custody and interviewed about T.W.'s death. She denied causing the

Case 2021AP001834 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2021 Page 11 of 38

injuries to T.W. J.W. and L.T. were both subject to forensic interviews as well. During the forensic interviews of J.W. and L.F., neither child alleged that Ms. Hughes had harmed T.W. or J.W. and both stated that it was Ms. Martinez would both physically assault the two brothers and withhold food from them and not Ms. Hughes. (1:6-8). As a result of the reports from J.W. and L.F., Ms. Martinez was also arrested within days of T.W.'s death and interviewed by police.

On December 12, 2016, after the filing of only the original four-count complaint, Ms. Hughes waived her right to a preliminary hearing. As a result, no testimony was taken and the bindover determination was made based solely upon the probable cause section of the criminal complaint. (42). That same day, the State filed an information reflecting the identical four counts as those charged in the original criminal complaint. (106).

The case remained in a trial posture throughout the litigation, with a final pretrial and trial date set for May 26, 2017 and June 5, 2017, respectively. Throughout the process, it was clear that Ms. Hughes intended to dispute the allegations and go to trial on the matter. (93). At the final pretrial hearing one week before the jury trial was set to begin, the State filed a new information with the court, amending the charges as follows:

Count One: First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime, Wis. Stat. §§940.02(1), 939.05;

Count Two: Neglecting a Child, Causing Great Bodily Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.21(1)(c);

Count Three: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Four: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Five: Physical Abuse of a Child, Repeated Acts Causing Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(5)(a), 939.05.

Count Six: Physical Abuse of a Child, Repeated Acts Causing Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(5)(a), 939.05.

(12).

The amendment increased Ms. Hughes' prison exposure by more than one hundred years. Additionally, at that hearing, the State filed a notice of expert testimony, a notice of intent to use J.W. and L.F.'s forensic interviews and its witness list.

The court accepted the amended information and permitted the addition of the new homicide charge and upgrading of the remaining charges without any argument or supplementing of the factual basis from either party. (43). There was no objection by the defense at that time to the filing of the amended information. (43). The case continued in a trial posture at that time and the matter was set over for trial, which was scheduled to begin on June 6, 2017. (43).

The day before the trial was to start, Ms. Hughes' entered pleas of "no contest" to the four initial charges

found in the original complaint and information, though the State moved to strike all party to a crime modifiers on those four counts. (40). The matter was set out for sentencing, and a presentence investigation report ordered by the court. (20; 32). On July 20, 2017, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald sentenced Ms. Hughes to a total sentence between all counts of 20 years initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision. (30; 32).

On June 1, 2021, Ms. Hughes filed a postconviction motion asserting several claims related to the filing of the amended information, its timing and counsel's failure to object to the filing of the three additional charges. (87). Ms. Hughes alleged the following errors had occurred:

- 1. The amended information was filed by the State and accepted by the court in error because the complaint and the record at the time of filing contained no factual basis supporting the addition of the three new counts filed against Ms. Hughes.
- 2. The amended information was filed by the State and accepted by the court in error because counts three and four were multiplicitous to counts five and six, and the legislature likewise specifically prohibited the charging of the multiple counts in section 948.03(5)(c), *Stats*.
- 3. Because the amended information was filed in error and Ms. Hughes was incorrectly led to believe her exposure had legally increased by more than one hundred years by the filing of

the three new charges, a manifest injustice has occurred because her understanding of the plea agreement at the time she waived her right to trial was based on presumptions that were false.

- 4. Because of the late filing of the three new charges less than two weeks before trial, Ms. Hughes' counsel could not be properly prepared to defend her case, and this deprived her of right to effective assistance of counsel.
- 5. Trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law for failing to object to the amended information and for providing Ms. Hughes with incorrect advice regarding the value of the final plea agreement.

(87).

On September 2, 2021, the circuit court issued a written decision denying all claims raised by Ms. Hughes in her postconviction motion. (100). Related to the previously stated five arguments of Ms. Hughes, the court concluded the following:

1. The amended information was properly filed because the new charges were related to the context of the initial investigation and the allegations that Ms. Hughes had personally physically abused J.W. and T.W., while not detailed throughout the complaint, were transactionally related to the facts in the complaint. (100:7-9).

- 2. The court briefly addressed the multiplicity argument, concluding there was no issue, because "[c]ounts three and four were based on the defendant's knowledge that Martinez was abusing TW and JW and her failure to prevent the abuse, and counts five and six were based on the defendant's repeated abuse of TW and JW, either directly or as a party to a crime." (100:9-10). Therefore, the court wrote, the "charges are plainly not identical in law or fact." (100:10).
- 3. Because the amended information was properly filed in the court's eyes and contained probable cause, there was no illusory plea bargain and the benefit Ms. Hughes' received was real and significant. (100:10).
- 4. Based on the supplemental information provided by the State regarding the advance notice to counsel of the forthcoming charges, the court found that there was no issue with adequate notice that implicated Ms. Hughes' due process rights or her counsel's ability to defend against the new allegations. (100:10-12).
- 5. Because the court found that there was no prejudice regarding counsel's failure to object to the amended information (i.e., the amendment to the information and its subsequent acceptance by the court was proper), trial counsel was not ineffective as a matter of law. (100:12-13).

Ms. Hughes now appeals the adverse decisions<sup>1</sup> of the postconviction court.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The probable cause section of the criminal complaint lacked a factual basis for the newly added counts one, five and six, nor was there any specificity regarding counts five and six, and as a result, the filing of the amended information by the State should not have been permitted by the court.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review.
    - i. Plea Withdrawal, Manifest Injustice & the Benefit of a Plea Negotiation

"When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty or no contest plea after sentencing, he or she must prove by clear and convincing evidence that refusing to allow plea withdrawal would result in a 'manifest injustice.'" State v. Douglas, 2018 WI App 12, ¶10, 380 Wis. 2d 159, 908 N.W.2d 466, citing State v. Finley, 2016 WI 63, ¶58, 370 Wis. 2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761. A manifest injustice has occurred and "a defendant has the right to withdraw a plea when, prior to deciding whether to accept the plea, the defendant is mistakenly advised

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Due to the additional supplementation of the record by the State in the form of exhibits attached to its postconviction motion response (See, 91-93) regarding Ms. Hughes' claim that her counsel did not have adequate notice of the potential new charges, Ms. Hughes is not pursuing this claim on appeal.

Case 2021AP001834 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2021 Page 17 of 38

about his or her potential punishment" or the possibility of conviction on charges where dismissal is contemplated by the plea agreement if he or she proceeds to trial. *Douglas*, 2018 WI App 12, ¶10; *See also State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

When defendant provided has been misinformation about the consequences of the pending criminal charges, such as potentially being subject to a substantial additional criminal convictions or lengthy additional exposure, a "defendant's capacity to intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily between accepting the State's plea offer and proceeding to trial" has been undermined. See Douglas, 2018 WI App 12, ¶16, citing *Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶¶69-70. Under such circumstances, a manifest injustice has occurred, and a defendant is entitled to plea withdrawal accordingly. Id.

ii. Lesser-included offenses & the propriety of multiple convictions for the same conduct

Both the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, sec. 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect an individual from twice being placed in jeopardy for a single offense. Long-standing case law has established that this protection includes a prohibition against subjecting a defendant to multiple punishments for the same offense. *State v. Sauceda*, 168 Wis. 2d 486, 492, 485 N.W.2d 1 (1992); *State v. Grayson*, 172 Wis. 2d 156, 159, 493 N.W.2d 23 (1992) (Multiple convictions and punishments arising from a single criminal act "are impermissible because they violate the

double jeopardy provisions of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions.").

When assessing double jeopardy claims, Wisconsin courts have traditionally utilized a two-prong test. If the answer is "yes" to either of the following questions, the offenses are multiplications and conviction under both statutory provisions is barred:

- (1) Are the charged offenses identical in law and fact?
- (2) If the offenses are not identical in law and fact, did the legislature intend that the conduct underlying the multiple offenses be brought as a single count?

State v. Anderson, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329, 333 (1998).

Whether simultaneous convictions for multiple offenses violate a defendant's double jeopardy rights under the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitution is a question of law, and therefore, the standard of review is de novo. This Court need not give any deference to the holdings of the lower courts on this issue. *Sauceda*, 168 Wis. 2d at 492.

While the "general rule is that a guilty, no contest, or Alford plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims,'" a double jeopardy challenge may be raised postconviction if it can be resolved on the record as it existed at the time of the plea. *State v. Multaler*, 2002 WI 35, ¶54, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437; See *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶¶ 24, 39, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 ("We do not hold that a double jeopardy claim may never be waived. We

simply hold that a plea of guilty to a charge does not waive a claim that-judged on its face-the charge is one which the State may not constitutionally prosecute."). No party may supplement the factual basis on appeal to justify the charging of potentially multiplicitous offenses, and the reviewing court is limited to considering only those facts and arguments known to the circuit court at the time of the plea. See State v. Steinhardt, 2017 WI 62, ¶16, 375 Wis. 2d 712, 896 N.W.2d 700, citing e.g. State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶38 ("What this means is that a court will consider the merits of a defendant's double jeopardy challenge if it can be resolved on the record as it existed at the time the defendant pled."); State v. Eisch, 96 Wis. 2d 25, 27, 291 N.W. 800 (1980) ("Because we confront the case at the pleading stage, we are confined to the facts alleged in the complaint, information, and transcript of testimony of the witnesses at the preliminary examination.").

## iii. Wis. Stats. §948.03(5)(c)

Section 948.03(5)(c), *Stats.*, controls the charging of repeated acts of physical abuse of a child, a crime set forth in section 948.03(5)(a). The charging provision asserts that "[t]he state may not charge in the same action a defendant with a violation of [948.03(5)] and with a violation involving the same child under [948.03](2), (3), or (4), unless the other violation occurred outside of the" specified period of time related to the charging of crime of repeated acts of physical abuse against the same child. Sections 948.03(2), (3) and (4) prohibit individuals from intentionally causing bodily harm to a child, recklessly causing bodily harm to a child and failing to act to prevent another from causing bodily harm to a child, respectively.

Case 2021AP001834 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2021 Page 20 of 38

B. The record as it existed at the time of the plea contained no factual basis supporting the newly added counts one, five and six of the amended information, and the provisions in the law controlling charging following preliminary hearing does not permit the State leave to amend a complaint in such a manner.

A criminal complaint is sufficient if it sets forth essential facts within its four corners that would allow a reasonable person to conclude that a crime was probably committed, and that the defendant is probably the individual who committed the crime charged. State v. Haugen, 52 Wis. 2d 791, 793, 191 N.W.2d 12 (1971). Probable cause must be found from facts as to each count of a complaint, and mere conclusions or recitation of statutory language are not sufficient. Giordenello v. United States, 357 U.S. 480, 486 (1958); State ex rel. White v. Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 597, 137 N.W.2d 391, 394 (1965), and State v. Williams, 47 Wis.2d 242, 253, 117 N.W.2d 611 (1970) ("The use of statutory language is not proscribed, nor do we seek to have drafters of complaints search out recondite synonyms for the clear statutory language that was carefully selected by the Rather, legislature. a constitutionally complaint must contain the 'essential facts' constituting the offense charged.").

A court will find a complaint sufficient if the complaint answers the questions:

"Who is charged?";

"What is the person charged with?";

Case 2021AP001834 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2021 Page 21 of 38

"When and where did the alleged offense take place?";

"Why is this particular person being charged?"; and

"Who says so or How [sic] reliable is the informant?"

State v. White, 97 Wis.2d 193, 203, 295 N.W.2d 346 (1980); See also State ex. Rel. Evanow v. Seraphim, 40 Wis. 2d 223, 161 N.W.2d 369 (1968).

A criminal complaint that does not allege sufficient facts establishing the violation of the law charged against the defendant as defined by statute, is jurisdictionally defective and must be dismissed. Champlain v. State, 53 Wis. 2d 751, 754, 195 N.W.2d 868 (1972) and State v. Lampe, 26 Wis. 2d 646, 648, 133 N.W.2d 349 (1965) ("If the defendant is correct that no offense is charged then the court had no jurisdiction to proceed to judgment."). Here, the probable criminal complaint contains no evidence to substantiate counts one, five or six of the amended information. Moreover, because there was no preliminary hearing in this case, the only factual basis on which the court could rely when permitting the amendment of the charges was found in the criminal complaint.

Count one alleges that Ms. Hughes was a party to the crime of first-degree reckless homicide in the death of T.W. Regarding counts five and six, Ms. Hughes was alleged to have committed, as party to a crime, at least three unspecified acts of child abuse against both T.W. and J.W. The complaint, however, is devoid of any specific facts or conclusions supporting these charges. The probable cause section does not contain any facts Case 2021AP001834 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2021 Page 22 of 38

alleging that Ms. Hughes physically assaulted T.W. and caused his death as a result, nor does it include any allegations she personally physically assaulted either T.W. or J.W. or withheld food from them, causing their weight loss.

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