FILED 02-16-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1834-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ETTER L. HUGHES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JONATHAN D. WATTS AND THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- T. The amended charges were legally and factually sufficient.
 - A. The amended charges plainly were transactionally related to the facts stated in the complaint.

district attorney may, where a preliminary examination is waived, file an information for any offense or offenses growing out of or relating to the transaction charged in the criminal complaint." Thies v. State, 178 Wis. 98, 105,

189 N.W. 539 (1922). More recently, this Court interpreted Wis. Stat. § 971.01(2), the modern preliminary examination statute, as providing the same: "the legislature intended to permit a district attorney to file *any* charge in the information so long as it was based on . . . the facts set out in the complaint when a preliminary hearing is waived." *State v. Michels*, 141 Wis. 2d 81, 88, 414 N.W.2d 311 (Ct. App. 1987). This requirement is met as long as "the information charge is related to the same events set out in the complaint regardless of the level of the charge." *Id.* at 89. A charge is considered factually related to another charge if it "involved the same participants and witnesses, occurred at the same time and place, relied on the same physical evidence and allegedly arose from the same motive." *State v. Williams*, 198 Wis. 2d 516, 535, 544 N.W.2d 406 (1996).

All of those requirements are met here. The amended complaint charged Hughes with first-degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime for Tyler's death and maintained the neglect resulting in great bodily harm charge as to Jake. (R. 12:1.) It also added two counts of repeated physical abuse of a child as a party to a crime, one for each boy. (R. 12:2.) The original criminal complaint stated that both Jake and Tyler were severely malnourished and showed innumerable wounds, both fresh and healed. (R. 1:3–5.) And while Hughes blamed Martinez for all of the abuse, the complaint said Gonzalez reported to police that he had witnessed Hughes striking the children. (R. 1:5-7.) He further that Hughes gave Martinez permission reported "physically discipline" the boys and relayed that when he found the boys tied up behind the couch, he was told that Hughes was the one who had tied them. (R. 1:7.) The original complaint charged Hughes with neglect resulting in Tyler's death and neglect resulting in great bodily harm to Jake, both as a party to a crime, meaning the original complaint clearly implicated Hughes as one of the abusers. (R. 1:1.)

So, the amended charges quite obviously arose out of the same transaction relayed in the original criminal complaint in this case. The transaction alleged in the original complaint was the severe and ongoing abuse of both boys during the time they lived in Martinez's home and in which both Martinez and Hughes participated. (R. 1:3–8.) The amended information also alleged that Hughes participated in the severe and ongoing abuse of both boys while they resided with Martinez—in other words, the amended charges involved the same participants and witnesses, occurred at the same time and place, relied on the same physical evidence and arose from the same motive as the charges in the original complaint. (R. 12.) The new charges simply reflected that Hughes was more directly involved in beating and torturing the boys than was originally known.

Hughes' claim that "there is nothing in the complaint that establishes that [she] intentionally aided and abetted in the abuse" of the boys is plainly false. (Hughes' Br. 22.) Hughes fails to address that Gonzalez specifically told police that he witnessed Hughes striking the children. (R. 1:7; See Hughes' Br. 23–24.) Both boys had horrific injuries all over their bodies that any caregiver would notice and that were plainly inconsistent with legal "physical discipline." (Hughes' Br. 22–24.) And Hughes utterly ignores Jake's disclosures that Hughes was actively involved in the abuse. These facts alone are sufficient to support the charges that Hughes aided and abetted Martinez in abusing the children.

And the fact that "there is no additional corroborating evidence" beyond Gonzalez's statement to show that Hughes was the person who tied the children up is immaterial. (Hughes' Br. 23–24.) Of course there is no corroborating evidence for this apart from Gonzalez's statement; it was an act of child abuse that occurred in the defendants' residence and the only people who witnessed it were the defendants, Gonzalez, and the victims. Under Hughes' theory no one could

Filed 02-16-2022

Case 2021AP001834

ever be charged with child abuse unless the person was somehow caught on camera perpetrating the abusive act, because witness accounts would be insufficient to support charges. That is absurd.

In sum, Hughes waived a preliminary hearing, and that allowed the State to amend the charges to any crime that arose out of the same transaction alleged in the original complaint. Hughes' amended charges arose out of the ongoing and severe abuse of the two boys by both Martinez and Hughes—which is the same transaction that gave rise to the original charges. The circuit court properly denied this claim.

В. Hughes' multiplicity allegation is forfeited and moot.

Hughes claims that counts three and four in the amended information—charging Hughes with one count of failure to prevent harm for each boy pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 948.03(4)—were multiplications with counts five and six charging Hughes with one count of repeated acts of abuse causing great bodily harm to each boy pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 948.03(5)—because Wis. Stat. § 948.03(5)(c) prohibits charging a defendant with repeated acts of abuse and with failure to prevent abuse if the charges cover the same time frame. (Hughes' Br. 24-31.) As explained below, Hughes is due no relief on this claim for multiple reasons.

1. forfeited her multiplicity arguments by operation of law.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.31(2) requires a party to raise "defenses and objections based on defects in the institution of the proceedings, insufficiency of the complaint, information or indictment . . . before trial . . . or be deemed waived." And generally, "a guilty, no contest, or Alford plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims." State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d

886 (footnote omitted) (citation omitted). "When a criminal defendant has solemnly admitted in open court that he is in fact guilty of the offense with which he is charged, he may not thereafter raise independent" claims of constitutional error that occurred before the entry of the plea. *Tollett v. Henderson*, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973).

It is also universally recognized that "[i]ssues not raised in the circuit court are deemed [forfeited].2" State v. Carprue, 2004 WI 111, ¶ 36, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31. "The [forfeiture] rule serves several important objectives. Raising issues at the trial court level allows the trial court to correct or avoid the alleged error in the first place, eliminating the need for appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 12, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. "It also gives both parties and the trial judge notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection." Id. For this reason, "a specific, contemporaneous objection is required to preserve error." State v. Delgado, 2002 WI App 38, ¶ 12, 250 Wis. 2d 689, 641 N.W.2d 490.

When a specific and timely objection is not made, "the normal procedure in criminal cases . . . is to address [forfeiture] within the rubric of the ineffective assistance of counsel." *Carprue*, 274 Wis. 2d 656, ¶ 47 (citation omitted). However, ineffective assistance of trial counsel is itself a claim that is not preserved for appellate review unless the defendant presents an ineffective assistance challenge in a postconviction motion to the circuit court that specifically addresses trial counsel's failure to object on these grounds. *See State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry*, 205 Wis. 2d 675,

² The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 28–33, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612, discussed the difference between "waiver" and "forfeiture" and recognized that this rule is more consistent with the concept of forfeiture than waiver.

677–78, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996) ("Claims of ineffective trial counsel . . . cannot be reviewed on appeal absent a postconviction motion in the trial court."); $State\ v$. $Balliette,\ 2011\ WI\ 79,\ \P\ 24,\ 336\ Wis.\ 2d\ 358,\ 805\ N.W.2d\ 334$ ("the defendant must show that 'particular errors of counsel were unreasonable") (emphasis in original). Stated differently, alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to object on one ground does not preserve for review any and all other claims of ineffective assistance that could conceivably be raised for failing to object on other grounds.

The record shows that trial counsel never objected to the amended charges on multiplicity grounds. And Hughes did not claim in her postconviction motion that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a multiplicity challenge prior to the plea; her allegations were that trial counsel should have objected to the information on the grounds that they lacked a factual basis and deprived Hughes of adequate notice of the charges against her. (R. 87:17–19.) Accordingly, Hughes has both waived and forfeited this claim.

Regardless, as explained below, any potential multiplicity problem was cured when Hughes entered her no contest plea and therefore Hughes is due no relief even if she had properly raised this claim in the circuit court.

2. Hughes' multiplicity claim is moot because the amended charges were dismissed.

Even if Hughes' multiplicity claim were properly preserved (which it is not), it nonetheless fails for being moot. Hughes pleaded no-contest to the original charges, and the amended charges were dismissed. Accordingly, a ruling relating to whether the amended charges were multiplicitous can have no practical impact on the outcome of the case.

"[T]he Double Jeopardy Clause provides three separate protections." *State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 19, 263 Wis. 2d

145, 666 N.W.2d 1. "It protects against a second prosecution for the *same offense* after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the *same offense* after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the *same offense*." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Crimes are considered the same offense if they are identical in law and fact. *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶ 21, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801.

As is relevant to Hughes' claim, it is a violation of the double jeopardy clause of the Wisconsin and federal constitutions to convict a defendant of multiple counts that the Legislature intended to comprise only a single crime with a single punishment. *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329 (1998); *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶ 29. However, "in discussing multiplicity, a reference to 'charges' must be employed carefully, because it is permissible to *charge* more than one count, even if the state may not punish a defendant on more than one count." *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶ 38; *see also* Wis. Stat. § 939.65 ("if an act forms the basis for a crime punishable under more than one statutory provision, prosecution may proceed under any or all such provisions").

The State does not dispute that Wis. Stat. § 948.03(5)(c) arguably evinces legislative intent not to impose cumulative punishments for violating both Wis. Stat. § 948.03(5) and for individual acts charged under the other subsections of Wis. Stat. § 948.03 that occurred within the same time frame. Nevertheless, Hughes' multiplicity claim is moot. "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." *State ex rel. Olson v. Litscher*, 2000 WI App 61, ¶ 3, 233 Wis. 2d 685, 608 N.W.2d 425. A multiplicity claim is moot where, as here, the charges that would have constituted multiple convictions violative of legislative intent are dismissed. *State v. Parr*, 182 Wis. 2d 349, 362–63, 513 N.W.2d 647 (Ct. App. 1994). Hughes was not punished multiple times for the same offense; she was

Filed 02-16-2022

punished once each for four distinct offenses, and none of those offenses were charged contrary to Wis. § 948.03(5)(c). There is no relief this Court can grant Hughes on her multiplicity claim that she has not already received by virtue of the State dismissing the amended charges.

C. Hughes' claim that the amendment was improper because it erroneously informed her of the maximum penalty she faced fails because any error in the State's amended information was clearly harmless.

At bottom, Hughes' multiplicity and factual basis claims seem to actually be an argument that her plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered because the allegedly improper amended charges made her think she was facing more time than she actually was when she agreed to plead no contest to the original charges. (Hughes' Br. 24–31.) But any error in this regard was harmless.

The State made very clear that it intended to increase the severity of the charges Hughes was facing, and it did so long before it filed the amended information; so, by the time Hughes entered her plea she was well aware she was going to be facing more prison time than she was initially no matter what the amended charges were. (R. 39:4–5; 92.) Given Jake's additional disclosures and the severity of these offenses, had counsel objected to the repeated acts counts five and six on multiplicity grounds, in all likelihood the State simply would have dropped counts three and four, the two lower-grade Class H failure-to-protect felonies. And the addition of counts five and six charging Hughes with one count of repeated physical abuse of a child for each boy were not the only changes the State made in the amended information. It also amended count one up from child neglect resulting in death, a Class D felony, to first-degree reckless homicide, a Class B felony. (R. 1:1; 12:1.)

Filed 02-16-2022

So, even had Hughes objected to the amended information, there is no reasonable probability that Hughes would have opted for trial instead of taking the plea. The facts alleged in the initial complaint plainly implicated Hughes as participating in the abuse, so a challenge to the amendment on that ground would have been denied. And had Hughes objected on multiplicity grounds and the State dropped the two failure to aid charges, at a minimum Hughes would still have been facing an additional possible 53 years of prison exposure on the amended information versus the original charges.³ And that is assuming that the State would not have replaced counts three and four with two other charges that would not have been prohibited by section 948.03(5)(c), such as two counts of causing mental harm to a child under Wis. Stat. § 948.04 or aggravated battery under Wis. Stat. § 940.19(5).

It is simply not possible that Hughes would have evaluated the benefit of pleading no contest to the original charges any differently had the allegedly improper charges been removed from the amended information when doing so still would have subjected Hughes to over 100 years of incarceration: more than double the potential exposure on the original charges. Any impropriety in the amended charges was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it cannot have possibly had any substantial effect on Hughes' evaluation on the benefit of taking the plea even if the failure to aid charges would have been dropped.

³ The maximum penalty Hughes could receive on the original charges was 49.5 years; the maximum she could have faced for counts one, two, five, and six of the amended information was 102.5 years.

- II. Hughes did not plead sufficient facts to warrant a hearing on her ineffective assistance claim.
 - A. When a circuit court summarily denies an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the only issue on appeal is whether the defendant is entitled to a *Machner* hearing.

An evidentiary hearing is a prerequisite to raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal. State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). Defendants are not entitled to a hearing, however, simply because they raise an ineffective assistance claim; a hearing is required only if the defendant's motion was properly pled. State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 10, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. "[T]o adequately raise a claim for relief, a defendant must allege 'sufficient material facts—e.g., who, what, where, when, why, and how—that, if true, would entitle the defendant to the relief he seeks." State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 37, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668 (citation omitted).

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